FILED, 3/1/2013, Thomas D. Hall, Clerk, Supreme Court

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PATRICIA YOUNG, et al., Petitioners,

v.

Case No. L.T. No. SC12-988 3D11-2129 & 3D11-2141

NORVA L. ACHENBAUCH, et al., Respondents.

## ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

### **INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS**

Christian D. Searcy
Searcy Denney Scarola Barnhart & Shipley, P.A.
2139 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd.
West Palm Beach, Florida 33409

Counsel for FAMRI

David J. Sales 1001 North U.S. Highway 1, Suite 200 Jupiter, Florida 33477

Counsel for FAMRI

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Several of the key documents cited herein are included in the accompanying appendix for ease of reference. This brief cites only to the record, but the record volume and page numbers appear in the appendix and below:

- 1. Order Granting Former Class Representatives/Plaintiffs', Miles A. McGrane's and FAMRI's Motions to Disqualify (R10:1805-22)
- 2. *Broin v. Phillip Morris Cos., Inc.*, Nos. 3D11-2129 & 3D11-2141 (Fla. 3d DCA slip op. Mar. 21, 2012) (R26:4957-68)
- 3. Settlement Agreement (R1:97-114)
- 4. Client letter from Steven Hunter (R3:522-25)
- 5. Client letter from Philip Gerson (R3:540-43)
- 6. Patricia Young's Affidavit in Support of Motion to Disqualify (R3:498-503)
- 7. Alani Blissard's Affidavit in Support of Motion to Disqualify and Exhibits (R3:475-86)
- 8. Olivia Rossi Chambers' Affidavit in Support of Motion to Disqualify and Exhibits A, B, & D (R3:505-27)
- 9. Raiti Waerness's Affidavit in Support of Motion to Disqualify and Exhibits A, B, C, & E (R3:530-50)
- 10. Affidavit of Miles A. McGrane, III, In Support of Motion to Disqualify Counsel (exhibits not included) (R3:424-29)
- 11. Marvin Weinstein's Notice of Filing and in the Alternative Verified Motion to Intervene (R4:672-78)
- 12. Settling Defendant, Philip Morris USA Inc.'s Statement with Respect to Petition for Modification (R6:1119-23)

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS**

Having found the Florida Rules of Professional Conduct and this Court's precedents "inadequate ... for determining when to disqualify an attorney for conflict of interest in the context of a class action," the Third District adopted a different test from the federal courts and quashed the trial court's order disqualifying attorneys Philip Gerson and Steven Hunter from seeking relief adverse to their clients. Broin v. Phillip Morris Cos., Inc., 84 So. 3d 1107, 1112 (Fla. 3d DCA 2012). The trial court had disqualified the attorneys after finding impermissible conflicts with both current and former clients in violation of Florida Rules of Professional Conduct 4-1.7 and 4-1.9. Patricia Young, Alani Blissard, and the Flight Attendant Medical Research Institute ("FAMRI") ask this Court to quash the Third District's decision because the adequacy of this Court's rules in the context of a class action is an issue that is neither within the Third District's authority nor implicated by the facts of this case, and the trial court's ruling complied with the essential requirements of Rules 4-1.7 and 4-1.9.

### **Procedural History**

This proceeding arises from a lawsuit brought by a class of flight attendants against the tobacco industry that was filed in 1991, settled in 1997, dismissed with prejudice in 1998, and had its closed file destroyed in 2004. (R1:97-114; R12:2275-78; R17:3186, 3274.) The lawsuit is known as the "Broin class action"

after Norma Broin, the original lead class representative. But contrary to the style of the opinion below, neither Broin nor the former class were petitioners in the Third District, and Philip Morris and the tobacco companies are, at most, only technical respondents. Fla. R. App. P. 9.020(g)(4).

In this Court, the petitioners, who were respondents-in-interest in the Third District, are Young, Blissard, and FAMRI. Young and Blissard were named representatives of the Broin class and now serve on the board of trustees of FAMRI, a non-profit 501(c)(3) scientific research foundation created with court approval pursuant to the Broin settlement agreement. (R3:475, 500, 505; R12:2293.) Young and Blissard contend that Gerson and Hunter represented them in their individual progeny actions brought against the tobacco companies pursuant to the settlement agreement. (R3:476-77, 500-03.)

Together with FAMRI, they moved to disqualify Gerson and Hunter after these attorneys filed a petition under the original Broin case number and caption that accused FAMRI's board of mismanagement and sought to modify the 1997 settlement and liquidate the foundation. (R1:72-93; R3:510-21.) Gerson and Hunter did not disclose the "petitioners" they purported to represent until after the disqualification order at issue, although they did file two post-petition notices that listed 53 names as "a sampling number of the Petitioners." (R1:64-69.) The primary respondents in this Court are 261 individuals that Gerson and Hunter now claim were "petitioners" in the trial court, although the vast majority of their names (excepting only 16 who were included in the 53 names of the "sampling") were not revealed until Gerson and Hunter filed notices in the trial court after the disqualification order was entered.<sup>1</sup> They consist of (1) Norva Achenbauch and 259 other flight attendants listed by Gerson in his caption, the vast majority of whom Gerson first revealed and claimed to represent following his disqualification and (2) Judith Adams who Hunter now claims he was representing below. (R1:1-7; R10:1782.)

Finding conflicts of interest involving Young, Blissard, and hundreds of other flight attendant clients who objected to or otherwise did not consent to the filing of the petition, the trial court disqualified Gerson and Hunter. (R10:1805-22.) The trial court stayed further proceedings on the petition pending appellate review. (R25:4751-52.) Even though the disqualification order itself was never stayed, Gerson (3D11-2129) and Hunter (3D11-2141) defied it and the trial court by filing petitions for writs of certiorari in the Third District on behalf of the clients they were disqualified from representing. (R1:1-50; R10:1782-1800.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The appellate record does not contain these notices, but it does include letters from several of these individuals in which they deny Gerson's authority to represent them in the petition against FAMRI. (R20:3914-39, 3950.)

After the Third District consolidated and granted the petitions and denied rehearing or certification (R11:2115; R26:4957-69), Young, Blissard, and FAMRI invoked this Court's conflict jurisdiction. (R25:4705-08.) This Court stayed the proceedings below on October 18, 2012, and later accepted jurisdiction.

### The Broin Litigation and Settlement

Although Gerson and Hunter had nothing to do with the class action litigation and eventually made clear that they do not purport to represent any class (R1:36; R5:891; R18:3463), the Broin class action and settlement that led to Gerson and Hunter's involvement in hundreds of individual progeny lawsuits form the predicate for the conflict issues in this case. Represented by Stanley and Susan Rosenblatt, Broin, Young, Blissard, and other representatives sued the major cigarette manufacturers in 1991 on behalf of a class of non-smoking flight attendants suffering diseases caused by exposure to second-hand smoke in airplane cabins. *See Broin v. Philip Morris Cos., Inc.*, 641 So. 2d 888, 889, 892 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994) (reversing dismissal of action and holding that class of 60,000 could be certified), *rev. denied*, 654 So. 2d 919 (Fla. 1995). The class was certified with the Rosenblatts serving as class counsel.

After the class put on 52 witnesses and rested three months into the 1997 trial and in the middle of the defense case, the parties reached a settlement agreement subject to court approval. (R1:97-114; R12:2228.) A court-approved

notice setting forth detailed information about the litigation and proposed settlement, including the formation of a not-for-profit foundation, and a full explanation of the rights of class members to object, was sent to over 190,000 former and current flight attendants, published in major publications across the globe, and posted on the internet. (R12:2258-59.) The court also appointed a guardian ad litem (Arno Kutner) and attorney ad litem (John Ostrow) who filed reports recommending approval of the agreement. (R1:143, 153, 173.)

This agreement provided that it could not be altered without all parties' consent and would be cancelled and the status quo restored if it was ever modified by the courts. (R1:110-12.) It provided for dismissal of the class litigation with prejudice and barred the flight attendants from seeking punitive damages in exchange for authorizing them to seek compensatory damages through new individual lawsuits in which they would enjoy a host of litigation benefits. (R1:102, 105-07, 124-27, 148-53, 174-75, 178.) Among other things, the defendants agreed to waive all statute of limitations defenses, to shift the burdens of proof on claims that second-hand exposure to tobacco smoke causes lung cancer, COPD, and other specified diseases, and to allow each flight attendant to file suit in his or her home venue. (R1:105-07, 124-27, 148-53, 174-75, 178.)

In addition to these individual benefits, the class obtained two common but less tangible benefits. First, the defendants agreed to pay \$300 million to be used "solely to establish a Foundation whose purpose will be to sponsor scientific research with respect to the early detection and cure of diseases associated with cigarette smoking." (R1:103.) Second, the defendants agreed to support federal legislation to ban smoking on all commercial flights beginning or ending in the United States. (R1:105.)

Despite the settlement's benefits, a "handful" of class members comprising "only a fraction of one percent" of the class objected because the settlement did not result in any monetary compensation to class members. Ramos v. Philip Morris Cos., Inc., 743 So. 2d 24, 28 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999). In affirming the trial court's approval of the settlement, the Third District concluded that the individual litigation benefits were "abundant, as recognized by virtually all of the class members, as well as the law professors, and class action and tobacco litigation experts." Id. at 31. It noted that there were "substantial risks and weaknesses in the flight attendants' case" and that the class would have faced significant hurdles relating to causation and the applicable statutes of limitation, the latter posing "a serious problem for most, and close to all of the class members." Id. at 28, 31-32 (internal quotations omitted). The Third District emphasized that the litigation benefits were "substantial in light of the trial court's pronouncement that the class had a less than 50/50 chance of success" absent the settlement. Id. at 32. The trial court had similarly emphasized the class "had a genuine and real reason to fear directed verdict" on the released intentional tort claims, which both the trial and appellate courts called the "weakest link" in the cases. *Id.* at 28, 32.

Although the Rosenblatts had fought for compensation to class members in settlement negotiations, the defendants refused and considered it an "absolute deal killer" for any money to go to flight attendants as opposed to funding a research foundation. (R13:2389-92.) The trial court found that the research would provide some benefits to class members, but indicated that "even if the settlement fund were not part of the settlement … the benefits of the other non-monetary provisions of the proposed settlement, warrant approval of the settlement" and that there was authority for class settlement agreements to establish "a charitable foundation," even one that "will not directly benefit class members." (R1:143 (citing *Edwards v. Alaska Pulp Corp.*, 920 P.2d 751, 753 (Alaska 1996)).) On appeal, the Third District approved the creation of the "foundation fund" and concluded that payment to class members was just not a viable option:

There is nothing to indicate that the tobacco companies would agree to settle if the money is to be directly paid to the class members. As defense counsel argued, **none** of the defendant tobacco companies have ever **voluntarily** or through **successful litigation** paid any compensation to any individual plaintiff in **any** lawsuit to date.

Ramos, 743 So. 2d at 32.

The settlement having been approved, the trial court reserved jurisdiction to oversee the creation and funding of the nonprofit research foundation. (R12:2275-

7

78, 2289-92.) In 2000, the court noted FAMRI's incorporation, released its restrictions on the foundation funds, and gave FAMRI's board the authority to operate independently and expend the foundation funds in accordance with the court approved articles of incorporation and bylaws. (R12:2293.) FAMRI is regulated by state and federal laws governing non-profit foundations. Its independent board of seven trustees includes four flight attendants, (Blissard, Young and two former class members), the Rosenblatts, and John Ostrow, whom the trial court had appointed first as attorney ad litem for absent class members during the proceedings to approve the settlement and then as special master to oversee the formation of the foundation. (R2:201; R12:2182.) As a nationally recognized research foundation, FAMRI has sponsored a large body of scientific research on the early detection, treatment, and cure of diseases associated with cigarettes (including the diseases contracted by flight attendants from cabin smoke exposure) with thousands of publications in peer-reviewed journals. (R12:2182.)<sup>2</sup>

## **Individual Progeny Flight Attendant Actions**

About 3,000 out of an estimated 60,000 class members filed progeny lawsuits. *Philip Morris Inc. v. French*, 897 So. 2d 480, 481, 483-84 (Fla. 3d DCA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The 2010 FAMRI monograph in the record describes the foundation's "Decade of Progress" funding science at top institutions to prevent, treat, and cure these diseases. (R1:182-3:422.) FAMRI "provide[s] flight attendants with medical screening centers throughout the United States for the early detection of diseases." (R12:2182); *see also* www.famri.org (last visited Feb. 28, 2013).

2004). In early 2000, a team of attorneys, including Gerson, Hunter, Miles A. McGrane, and Marvin Weinstein agreed to represent flight attendants and filed the progeny lawsuits. (R3:424-26, 500; R4:672-73.) Hunter filed over 400 lawsuits and Gerson over 600, and also worked as a team to represent flight attendants who directly retained McGrane, Weinstein, and other attorneys. (R3:425-26, 500; R4:672-73; R6:1133-R9:1727, 1729-30, 1744; R17:3166-72.) The team members met regularly to work together on their cases, shared confidential information, and covered hearings for each other. (R3:425-26, 428; R4:672-73; R9:1729-30, 1744.)

Young and Blissard were among the flight attendants represented by the legal team. Blissard directly retained Hunter, but also worked with Gerson and others, all of whom she "trusted [as] members of [her] legal team." (R3:476-77.) Young directly retained McGrane, but met regularly with Gerson and Hunter regarding her case, particularly while McGrane served as president of The Florida Bar. (R3:500-01.) She averred that Gerson and Hunter were "jointly handling my case" with McGrane and others. (R3:500.) Indeed, McGrane, Blissard, and Young stated that in the course of this approach, Gerson and Hunter gained confidential information about FAMRI. (R3:428, 476-77, 500-01.) Blissard provided information about FAMRI's internal operations. (R3:476-77.) Young noted that the attorneys sought her assistance to help their experts get FAMRI funding and asked to have their experts bypass FAMRI's peer-review requirements. (R3:500-02.)

Despite the benefits of the settlement and the large legal team assembled, the progeny actions largely languished for over a decade. (R6:1133-R9:1727, 1744.) For example, Raiti Waerness, whose action was filed by Gerson, and Olivia Rossi Chambers, whose action was filed by Hunter, did not hear anything for ten years, until receiving form letters from Gerson and Hunter soliciting their consent to their already-filed petition to modify the settlement. (R3:505-09, 522-27, 530-43.) Dockets from the hundreds of lawsuits Gerson and Hunter filed reveal that over 130 were dismissed for lack of prosecution, with clients' court files destroyed; the overwhelming majority have had no record activity for over a decade, with less than a dozen cases tried to verdict. (R6:1133-R9:1727; R18:3450-61.)

During a period of at least ten years of assisting Hunter in both her own case and those of other flight attendants, Blissard expressed to him her frustration that so few cases had gone to trial. (R3:476-77; R9:1744.) In response, he assured her of the benefits of the attorneys' team approach, stating "as long as we are working on any one of these cases, it benefits all of you." (R9:1744.) He also asked her to request funds from FAMRI to cover the individual litigation expenses he was supposed to advance. (R3:476-77.) She brought this request to the FAMRI board, which consulted with counsel and determined that it could not legally comply with the request. (R3:476-77.) Gerson and Hunter also asked Young to try to obtain money from FAMRI, but received the same answer. (R3:501.)

### Gerson and Hunter's Attempts to Liquidate FAMRI

Having made little progress in the progeny actions and undeterred by Blissard and Young's explanations regarding FAMRI's legal constraints, Gerson and Hunter changed their focus from trying to recover from tobacco companies to seeking to liquidate FAMRI as an exit strategy from the flight attendants' cases. In February 2010, they submitted a draft petition to FAMRI's board and requested FAMRI's cooperation to distribute a portion of its research funds to the flight attendants who filed individual lawsuits that were still pending and in need of closure. (R3:554-60.) They later proposed an "Injured Flight Attendants' Trust" whereby a portion of FAMRI's assets would voluntarily be placed in trust by FAMRI as compensation for individual flight attendants (with Gerson, Hunter, and their co-counsel taking 30%), and finally a tax reorganization that would dissolve FAMRI and divide its assets between two new 501(c)(3) foundations, the second in the names of Gerson, Hunter, and their clients to be promptly dissolved and the funds distributed. (R3:562-63; R4:645.) FAMRI's board rejected each proposal because of serious legal constraints. (R3:476-78, 501-02.)

When Blissard learned that Gerson and Hunter were contemplating filing a formal petition against FAMRI, she wrote Hunter a letter on April 28, 2010, to register her opposition to any such suit. (R3:483.) She explained:

As Trustees, [Young] and I have been accused of not following our mission and not helping or benefitting flight attendants through funded research. This is simply not true. However, even if it were, you, who represents [sic] me, and the other counsel cannot sue FAMRI when your client – me – is harmed by your actions. All other flight attendants are also harmed if FAMRI is harmed, and I strongly oppose what you are doing. ....

We want compensation from tobacco companies that caused our diseases and medical conditions, not from FAMRI. I certainly do not want you or any of your group of Gerson [and others] to bring any claims against FAMRI or sue FAMRI for any reason.

(R3:483.) Hunter's response was to move to withdraw from her case after ten years as her counsel. (R3:487-89.) He filed his motion to withdraw in June 2010, and it was granted later that month over Blissard's opposition after she travelled to the hearing in Miami from her home in Hawaii. (R3:477, 490-91.) Like Blissard, Young also felt betrayed after learning that Gerson and Hunter were preparing to sue FAMRI. (R3:502.) Having long been active in the flight attendants' efforts against the tobacco industry, she was confident that none of the flight attendants had asked these lawyers to go after FAMRI. (R3:502-03.)

Young and Blissard were not the only clients to oppose the attacks on FAMRI as antithetical to their interests. For example, when Waerness learned in April 2010 that Gerson was contemplating suing FAMRI, she complained that he had never contacted her about this, she had never authorized him to pursue this matter, and she was strongly opposed to it. (R3:530-32, 536.) He wrote back on May 4, 2010, assuring her that he would not take any action on her behalf of which she disapproved. (R3:531, 538.) Instead, a little over three weeks later, he filed a

motion to withdraw as her counsel, although he did not set it for hearing until long after formally filing the petition to dissolve FAMRI. (R3:534; R4:771-79.)

Another of his clients, Peggy Spurgeon, wrote Gerson in April 2010 to oppose any actions against FAMRI whose "good work is very important to me and other flight attendants" and to emphasize that suing FAMRI "adversely impacts me, your client, and other flight attendant clients." (R3:567.) Gerson never responded to her, but later filed an affidavit in which he stated that he never represented her because he "only" filed her progeny lawsuit, she never signed a fee agreement, and her case was dismissed for lack of prosecution in 2008. (R4:769.)

Co-counsel McGrane advised Gerson and Hunter in May 2010 that he could not participate in any legal action against FAMRI because Young and many of his other flight attendant clients opposed his doing so. (R4:634-35.) Accordingly, he advised Gerson and Hunter that to proceed against FAMRI against the wishes of these flight attendant clients would create a conflict of interest. (R4:634-35.)

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