FILED THOMAS D. HALL APR - 1 2013

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
BY

CASE NO. SC12-988 L.T. NO. 3D11-2129 & 3D11-2141

PATRICIA YOUNG et. al.,

Petitioners,

VS.

NORVA L. ACHENBAUCH et al.,

Respondents.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT L.T. NO. 3D11-2141

HUNTER, WILLIAMS & LYNCH, P.A.
Steven K. Hunter, Esq.
Christopher J. Lynch, Esq.
The Monarch Grove Building
2977 McFarlane Road, Suite 301
Miami, Florida 33133

1

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

¹⁶As a general proposition a party such as FAMRI does not have standing to seek disqualification, where, as here, there is no privity of contract between either Hunter or Gerson and FAMRI. *THI Holdings LLC v. Shattuck*, 93 So.3d 419, 424 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2012); *Continental Cas. Co. v. Przewoznik*, 55 So.3d 691, 691 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2011).

caution, however, or it can be misused as a technique of harassment." (Citing Comment to Rule 4-1.7).

In the present case, the facts do not support any conclusion that the fair administration of justice would be compromised because of Hunter's representation of the Respondent Adams or any other flight attendants. Specifically, the Petitioners have completely failed to articulate any comprehensible argument why Hunter's representation of Adams or any other flight attendants, who have not seen fit to move for disqualification, could inappropriately prejudice the Petitioners in addressing the merits of the underlying petition.

Obviously, if the lower court case ultimately proceeds to a resolution of the merits of the relief sought in the petition, the trial court would make conclusions based on what is best for the class as a whole.¹⁷ However, at this point, there is no basis for disqualifying Hunter or the Hunter firm because of the possibility that there may be some individuals, not even represented by the Hunter firm, who may ultimately not agree with the relief that is being sought. There is simply no authority requiring disqualification under Rule 4-1.7 based on such an argument.

¹⁷If, as the Rosenblatts repeatedly argue, the structure of FAMRI cannot be changed because it would violate the settlement agreement, obviously this will not occur. The primary goal, however, is an accounting of where the money has gone and affirmative action in the form of the medical care and treatment guaranteed by *Ramos*.

C. There Is No Basis For Disqualifying Steven K. Hunter Under Rule 4-1.9.

Rule 4-1.9, governing conflicts of interest with former clients, provides:

A lawyer who has formerly represented a client in a matter shall not thereafter:

- (a) represent another person in the same or a substantially related matter in which that person's interests are materially adverse to the interests of the former client unless the former client gives informed consent; or
- (b) use information relating to the representation to the disadvantage of the former client except as these rules would permit or require with respect to a client or when the information has become generally known.

To invoke the aforementioned Rule, as the basis for disqualification, the party seeking disqualification must show that:

- (1) An attorney/client relationship once existed; and
- (2) The lawyer previously represented the moving party in a legal matter that is the same or substantially related to the matter presently in controversy in which the lawyer's present client's interests are materially adverse to those of the former client.

State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co. v. K.A.W., 575 So.2d 630 (Fla. 1991).

Waldrep v. Waldrep, 585 So.2d 700 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008).

Florida courts define substantially related narrowly, as the same transaction or legal dispute. The courts also consider a matter substantially related if the current matter requires the lawyer to attack work he performed for the former client. See *Healthcare & Ret. Corp. of Am., Inc. v. Bradley,* 961 So.2d 1071, 1073 (4th DCA 2007)(citing the Comment to Rule 4-1.9).

While there is no question, that at one point, Hunter represented Blissard, his representation was limited to her action brought against the tobacco defendants in the *Broin* progeny suits after the *Broin* settlement had been reached. In no sense of the word did his representation of her involve a legal dispute between the class members and FAMRI.

The trial court's conclusion, that Hunter had represented Blissard and Young in the same or a substantially related matter as the current Petition, because "[A]t the core of Petitioners' counsels' prior representation of Blissard and Young are the funds that are central to the current litigation" is a clear misapplication of Rule 4-1.9.

The subject matter, issues and causes of action present in Hunter's former representation of Blissard are not related to the present proceedings. Hunter represented Blissard in a personal injury action against tobacco corporate clients. Here, he was representing *Broin* class members in an action to enforce a court order.

Finally, as the Comment to Rule 4-1.9 further states, in determining whether a lawyer formerly represented a client in a substantially related matter in which the

lawyer's current client had taken an adverse position:

The underlying question is whether the lawyer was so involved in the matter that the subsequent representation can be justly regarded as a changing of sides in the matter in question.

There is no evidence that Hunter represented the Movants, Blissard or Young, with respect to any of their dealings with FAMRI. All of FAMRI's matters have been handled by class counsel the Rosenblatts, and FAMRI's own lawyer, Roderick Petrey, Esq. As the Hunter affidavit attests, he had no involvement in the formation of FAMRI; the operations of FAMRI; nor is he familiar with the inner workings of FAMRI. There is no evidence that he attended any of the FAMRI board meetings or that he was privy to any of the dealings with the FAMRI Board.

While the Comment to Rule 4-1.9 states:

A former client is not required to reveal the confidential information learned by the lawyer in order to establish a substantial risk that the lawyer has confidential information to use in a subsequent matter,

the Comment further indicates that:

A conclusion about the possession of such information may be based on the nature of the services the lawyer provided the former client and information that would in ordinary practice be learned by a lawyer providing such services.

There was no evidence presented below, and there can be no reasonable inference, that Hunter's prior representation of Blissard or his alleged prior

representation of Young, with respect to Blissard's and Young's *Broin* progeny suits, was involved in any way with the underlying petition such that one could reasonably conclude that confidential information adverse to the Movants present position would have been divulged. Accordingly, there was no factual basis for disqualifying counsel based on any prior representation or alleged prior representation of the Movants in the *Broin* progeny suits.

Finally, because the lower court's finding that there had been a violation of Rule 4-1.9 is apparently based on the conclusion that there were or could have been confidences disclosed to Hunter by Blissard and Young which could be adverse to their present position, it is important to emphasize the nature of the *Broin* class action. As an example, it is well established that the *Broin* class representatives, such as Blissard and Young, owe a fiduciary duty to the other class members, such as the present clients of Hunter. See *Cohen v. Beneficial Indus. Loan Corp.*, 227 U.S. 541, 549; 93 L.Ed.1528, 69 S.Ct. 1221 (1949). See also, *Rule 1.220 (a)(4) Fla. R. Civ. P.* (requiring that the representative party fairly and adequately protect the interests of each member of the class.).

Further, as subsequent board members of FAMRI, the Blissard and Young could not have had any information, regarding FAMRI, that could be secreted from the Respondents and the other beneficiaries of FAMRI, or more specifically, the beneficiaries of the *Broin* settlement. In addition, as the underlying petition amply

demonstrates, FAMRI was to be under the continued supervision of the trial court and every single class member and their attorneys had a right to be informed about any and all dealings involving FAMRI. Thus, Blissard and Young had a fiduciary duty to assist the Petitioners and the representatives of the other class members, and not to oppose them in seeking to have the trial court exercise its management and supervisory function over the *Broin* settlement proceeds and their usage. Simply put, no information about FAMRI's dealings should be or can be secreted from the court or from the *Broin* class members.

The trial court which approved the *Broin* settlement noted that it was going to retain continuing jurisdiction in connection with the formation, management and direction of the research foundation as recommended in the report or presentation of the Attorney Ad Litem. Further, the specific portion of the report of the Attorney Ad Litem, referred to by the trial court, reads:

Foundation Provisions Need Tightening

The provisions concerning the establishment of the foundation, its mission, manner of operation, life and supervision should be determined under the court's supervision and guidance, and the class members should always be informed of the foundation's activities and its achievements...

(R. X: 1796).

In sum, if as Blissard and Young contend, Hunter served as either Blissard's or Young's lawyer with respect to their FAMRI dealings, because FAMRI owed a duty of full disclosure to the class members, as a matter of law none of the alleged communications divulged to any of Respondents' counsel could be privileged or confidential as to the class members. Young and Blissard, for their part, make general allegations regarding confidential information but these are conclusory statements. Blissard and Young do not elaborate in how the information they allegedly disclosed to Hunter could possibly be used to FAMRI's disadvantage in this case. To put it another way, even if such information was discussed, there was no indication that any such information would be relevant to the dispute at bar. In sum, as emphasized previously, Petitioners have not even begun to logically articulate how Hunter's representation of Blissard in her *Broin* progeny suit has anything to do with whether or not FAMRI breached its obligations to the flight attendants.

The bottom line is that the lower court's conclusion, adopting the disqualification Movants' claim that confidences were disclosed to Hunter, which would prejudice the Movants' present position, were Hunter and the additional Respondents' counsel to proceed on behalf of their clients, should be rejected as a matter of law. The contention that the motion to disqualify was tactically motivated, draws support from the fact that the Petitioners have entirely failed to demonstrate that their interests in this case would be improperly and adversely affected by

Hunter's prior representation of Blissard in her Broin progeny suit. For this reason, and for the additional reasons, addressed above, that Hunter never represented either Blissard or Young with respect to their dealings in FAMRI, there is no basis for disqualifying him under Rule 4-1.9.

D. Hunter Has Not Been Dilatory And There Has Been No Improper Solicitation Petitioners also make excessive and unfounded statements that Hunter was dilatory in the handling of his *Broin* clients cases and that in some manner there were improper solicitations. First, these issues were not before the Third District and they were not and could not be the basis of the order of disqualification. Second, the accusations are a smokescreen to divert attention from the Rosenblatts' handling of the flight attendants' money. Third, as indicated to the Third District, Hunter and Gerson have tried, at great expense, more secondhand *Broin* progeny than all of the collective lawyers who took on the cases have combined. (R. XXII: 4042-43). Fourth, the Rosenblatts assured the original *Broin* trial court, the Third District and the lawyers who took on this significant burden, that they would be co-counsel in the handling of the cases. However, they have abandoned their clients and these lawyers and have not appeared in a single *Broin* progeny case and certainly have not rendered any financial assistance. (Id). This is in violation of the order approving the settlement. Finally, Miles McGrane one of the chief accusers, has 590 Broin cases and has not tried a single Broin case. (Id).

With respect to solicitation, the letters were sent to existing clients. As Rule 4-7.9(g) of the Rules of Professional Conduct indicates: "Subchapter 4-7 shall not apply to communication between a lawyer and that lawyer's own current and former clients." Finally, as the Preamble to the Rules of Professional Conduct indicates:

As an adviser, a lawyer provides a client with an informed understanding of the client's legal rights and obligations and explains their practical implications. As an advocate, a lawyer zealously asserts the client's position under the rules of the adversary system.

Obviously, the Rosenblatts would have preferred that Hunter not communicate with his clients and advise them of the issues raised by the petition. However, the contacts were not improper, and this, once again, was not an issue before the Third District.

E. The Motion For Disqualification Was Untimely And The Petitioners Waived Their Right To Move For Disqualification

As stated above, a motion to disqualify should be made with reasonable promptness after a party discovers the facts which led to the motion. See *Balda v. Sorchych*, 616 So.2d at 1116; *Transmark USA v. State*, 631 So.2d at 1116. The underlying petition was filed on December 1, 2010 and the motion to disqualify was filed more then six months later on May 31, 2011. In addition, prior to the actual filing of the petition, the Rosenblatts as well as the other representatives of FAMRI were well aware of Petitioners' claim that the mandate and the *Broin* settlement

agreement conditions were being ignored. This occurred in April of 2010 more than 13 months before the filing of the motion.

Further, prior to filing the motion to disqualify, the Petitioners sought extensive relief in the trial court including:

- A motion to transfer the case to another circuit court judge and a *de facto* motion to recuse;
- Objections to extensive third-party subpoenas filed by the Respondents.
- Objections to a motion to open and recreate the court file in the original Broin litigation.
- An objection to declare the case complex;
- FAMRI files a motion to dismiss for lack of court jurisdiction and standing.

(R. XXII: 4051).

Respondents waited more than five months after the filing of the petition, and more than thirteen months after they were aware of the Respondents' claim that the *Ramos* mandate and the *Broin* settlement condition were being ignored, to move for disqualification. It was only after various motions which were intended to thwart the petition were filed and that they were unable to transfer the case to a another judge, that the Petitioners moved for disqualification. This inactivity should be held to constitute a waiver of any grounds for disqualification. See *Concerned Parents of*

Jordan Park v. Housing Authority of City of St. Petersburg, Fla., 934 F. Supp. 406-408 (N.D. (Fla. 1996) (a waiver occurred where the defendant waited five months after the case was filed to move for disqualification of opposing counsel); *Quail Cruise Ship Mgmt Ltd. v. Agencia de Viagens CMS Limitada, et. al.* 2010 U.S. Dist. Lexis 84593 *14 (S.D. Fla. 2010) (waiver where defendants waited until six months after the complaint was filed to move for disqualification of opposing counsel).

The claim of waiver should be viewed in light of the repeated admonition of Florida appellate courts that motions to disqualify should be viewed with skepticism because they are often brought for tactical purposes. *Coral Reef of Key Biscayne Developers, Inc.* at 157; *Alexander*, at 609. It is perfectly apparent to Petitioners that the disqualification of Respondents' lawyers, after the extensive work undertaken on behalf of the Respondents and additional flight attendant clients of Respondents' counsel, will seriously hamper if not ultimately preclude the resolution of the issues raised by the underlying petition. For these reasons, the Petitioners should be held to have waived the alleged grounds for disqualification.

CONCLUSION

_____For the reasons set forth above, the Respondent respectfully requests that the Court approve the decision of Third District Court of Appeal.